S219052

SUPREME COURT FILED

OCT 07 2014

IN THE

Supreme Court of the state of California

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CITY OF MONTEBELLO,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

ROSEMARIE VASQUEZ, et al., Defendants and Appellants,

ARAKELIAN ENTERPRISES INC., Intervener.

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE [2d Civil No. B245959]

REVERE & WALLACE

FRANK REVERE, BAR No. 32290

355 South Grand Avenue, Suite 2450 Los Angeles, California 90071-1560 (213) 839-1333

Attorney for Appellants
ROSEMARIE VASQUEZ, ROBERT URTEAGA,
KATHY SALAZAR and RICHARD TORRES

IN THE

Supreme Court of the state of California

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the United States Supreme Court's decision in Nevada Commission on Ethics v. Carrigan (2011) 564 U.S. ____, 131 S. Ct. 2343, holding that a legislator's vote does not constitute free speech protected under the First Amendment, precludes individual members of a legislative body from bringing an anti-SLAPP motion in response to an action challenging votes or statements made by those individual members in connection with an issue under consideration or review in an official proceeding authorized by law.
- 2. Whether under San Ramon Valley Fire Protection District (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 343, individual members of a legislative body may bring an anti-SLAPP motion in response to an action challenging votes or statements made by those individuals in connection with an issue under consideration or review in an official proceeding authorized by law.
- 3. Whether parties challenging decisions made by individual members of a public entity after discussion and vote at a public meeting

DDI	rr	\triangle	TITT		CDITC	
KKI	нн		1 H H	· N	MERITS	
$\mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{u}}$		$\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{I}}$		1 1		

should be required to make a *prima facie* showing of the merits of their claim.

INTRODUCTION

This case presents a matter of extreme importance for every member of a legislative body or district board in the state. The issues in this case boil down to one simple truth: if the vote of an individual member of a legislative body or district board is challenged in a lawsuit -- whether it be a lawsuit from a loser in a bidding process, a lawsuit from employees unhappy about their compensation package, or a lawsuit alleging that political contributions influenced a vote -- those individual legislators and board members deserve the right to test the claims asserted against them in an anti-SLAPP motion as provided for in California Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16 (hereafter "section 425.16").

In this case, the Court of Appeal denied three former members of the Montebello City Council (and Montebello's former City Administrator) the right to bring an anti-SLAPP motion in response to a lawsuit alleging a conflict of interests by the three former Council Members, each of whom voted in favor of a trash hauling contract approved by the Montebello City Council in July of 2008. The conflict of interest Plaintiff and Respondent the City of Montebello (the "City" or "Montebello") alleged was based solely on the Council Members' receipt of fully and properly reported

political contributions from Arakelian Enterprises, Inc. dba Athens Services ("Athens"), the waste hauler to whom Montebello awarded its trash hauling contract. The City produced absolutely *no evidence* that any of the Council Members had any interest in the trash hauling contract, as is required to prove a violation of Government Code section 1090 (hereafter, "section 1090") under this Court's decision in *Lexin v. Superior Court* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1050, 1074. And if the threadbare allegations against the Council Members were not flimsy enough, there was not a single allegation that the former City Administrator Torres received political contributions, nor could there be, because he did not hold an elective office.

mention -- much less construe -- section 425.16 or California's free speech clause found at art. 1, section 2 of the California Constitution, and reliance on *Carrigan* to deny Appellants' right to bring an anti-SLAPP motion is also contrary to several of this Court's holdings. For example, in *Navellier v. Sletten* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 82, 94-95, this Court instructed that a defendant need not establish that his or her actions were constitutionally protected under the First Amendment to invoke an anti-SLAPP motion. And in *Vargas v. City of Salinas* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1, 17, this Court held that the anti-SLAPP statute "extends to statements and writings of governmental entities and public officials on matters of public interest and concern that would fall within the scope of the statute if such statements were made by a private individual or entity."

In finding that Appellants' votes and public statements made as members of the Montebello City Council and/or Montebello's City

Administrator were not protected activity within the meaning of section

425.16, the Court of Appeal also misinterpreted San Ramon Valley Fire

Protection District v. Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement

Association (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 343 ("San Ramon"). In San Ramon,

the First District Court of Appeal found that an anti-SLAPP motion was not available to a retirement board which was named as a defendant. Id. at p.

347. In the instant case, the Second District Court of Appeal incorrectly

extended the San Ramon holding to the individual members of the board, a result directly contrary to dictum in San Ramon and to the express holding of Schwarzburd et al. v. Kensington Police Protection & Community

Services District Board (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1345, 1354-1355, which coincidentally was decided the same day (April 30, 2014) as the Court of Appeal opinion in this case.

Allowing a misapplication of Carrigan and a misinterpretation of San Ramon and to block otherwise potentially meritorious anti-SLAPP motions brought by either past or present members of legislative bodies and district boards would undo this Court's holdings in *Navellier* and *Vargas*, as well as the First District Court of Appeal's holding in Schwarzburd, and will put legislators and board members directly in the bull's eye for every type of frivolous lawsuit imaginable. If these legislators and board members lack the right to even bring an anti-SLAPP motion against frivolous and retaliatory lawsuits challenging their votes, then plaintiffs will never be required to prove the probability of success on the merits on any claims in order to proceed. This result turns section 425.16 on its head and defeats the very purpose of the anti-SLAPP statute which is to "eliminate meritless or retaliatory litigation at an early stage of the proceedings." Seelig v. Infinity Broadcasting Corp. (2002) 97 Cal. App. 4th 798, 806.

The underlying lawsuit in this appeal, which is just the latest case in

a string of politically driven litigation, is both meritless and retaliatory. In short, it is just the sort of suit that section 425.16 is meant to curtail. Thus, reversal of the lower Court is appropriate and necessary.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal, an Order granting or denying an anti-SLAPP motion is reviewed *de novo*, applying the same two-prong analysis that is applied in the trial court. *Soukup v. Law Offices of Herbert Hafif* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 260, 269, fn. 3; *Alpha & Omega Development, LP v. Whillock Contracting, Inc.* (2011) 200 Cal.App.4th 656, 663; *City of Colton v. Singletary* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 751, 764 (citing *Sylmar Air Conditioning v. Pueblo Contracting Services, Inc.* (2004) 122 Cal.App.4th 1049, 1056).

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Parties

Petitioners Vasquez, Urteaga and Salazar are former members of the Montebello City Council. Petitioner Torres is the former City Administrator of the City of Montebello.

Respondent City of Montebello is a general law city located in Los Angeles County.

Intevener Athens is a California corporation and has been City's exclusive residential waste hauler since 1962.

B. Factual History

Athens is a family-owned business that has been providing waste collection and recycling services throughout Southern California for over 50 years. 2CT462, ¶3.¹ Athens offers a variety of services, including automated waste and recycling collection, green waste recycling programs, and a state of the art materials recycling facility. *Ibid*. Athens has been the exclusive residential waste hauling franchisee in the City of Montebello since 1962. *Ibid*. In 2008, representatives of the City approached Athens and asked Athens to submit a proposal to become the exclusive commercial and industrial waste hauling franchisee. 2CT462, ¶4. This request came as part of a series of ongoing discussions and negotiations over annual rate adjustments under Athens's exclusive residential franchise agreement.

At that time, the waste hauling industry was undergoing consolidation, landfills were preparing to close, and the state was insisting on strict compliance with the Integrated Waste Management Act. 2CT462, ¶ 4. Working through City Administrator Torres and City Attorney Arnold Alvarez-Glasman, the City negotiated the terms of a new agreement with

All facts discussed herein are drawn from evidence submitted to the trial court in the form of declarations from Athens's then Executive Vice President and from Athens's counsel. Appellants note that in its opinion below, the Court of Appeal unfortunately treated the allegations in plaintiff's unverified Complaint as evidence, and adopted those allegations as fact, instead of relying on the only evidence submitted to the trial court.

Athens (the "Athens Contract"). 2CT462-463, ¶ 5. Under the Athens Contract, Athens agreed to provide improved residential trash hauling services by providing residents with new "easy-roll" waste bins, servicing their waste collection needs with new state-of-the-art environmentally "green" natural gas burning vehicles, providing free roll-out services for the elderly and handicapped, and increasing bulky item pickup service, all at no increase in price for residential customers. Ibid. Athens also agreed to become the exclusive commercial and industrial franchisee in 2016. 2CT463, ¶ 6. In exchange for these exclusive franchise rights, Athens was to make a one-time cash payment of \$500,000 to the City and was obligated to pay generous royalties on the fees realized for commercial and industrial waste hauling services provided in the City. 2CT463, ¶ 7. Athens also indemnified the City against any failure to comply with the provisions of the Integrated Waste Management Act (Pub. Resources Code section 40000). Ibid.

Approval and Execution of the Athens Contract by the Montebello City Council

On July 23, 2008, in an open City Council meeting, three of the five members of Montebello's City Council voted to approve the Athens Contract. 2CT463, ¶ 8. On August 5, 2008, the final version of the Athens Contract was complete, had been approved by Athens and the Montebello

City Attorney, and was submitted to then Mayor William Molinari in his City Hall mailbox for signature. 2CT524. And there it sat, for three weeks. while Mayor William Molinari -- an active opponent of Athens -- attempted to exercise an improper pocket veto by refusing to sign the Athens Contract. On August 25, 2008, Molinari wrote to the City Attorney, saying that he had not signed the agreement because he had "serious concerns on several areas in the agreement and related issues which have occurred in the past week." 3CT557. Montebello's City Attorney immediately responded to Molinari, advising him of his ministerial duty to execute the Athens Contract. 2CT529. The City Attorney further advised Molinari that his "decision not to sign the [Athens Contract] warrants a determination that [he be] deemed absent." *Ibid.* Accordingly, and acting on instructions from the City Attorney, on or about September 15, 2008, then Mayor Pro Tempore Rosemarie Vasquez finally signed the Athens Contract on behalf of the City, including the exact language from the City Attorney's memo of August 25, 2008, noting that she was acting in place of Molinari, who was deemed absent for purposes of signing the agreement.² 2CT400, ¶ 11.

² Paragraph 30 of the City's unverified Complaint states that "Vasquez, the City Attorney and the City Clerk all deny altering the signature page of the AEI Contract." 1CT8. The notation added to the signature page did not alter any terms of the Athens Contract.

2. The Referendum and Related Litigation Over the Athens Contract.

The independent trash haulers -- who stood to lose their commercial waste hauling contracts in Montebello in 2016 under the Athens Contract -have actively opposed the agreement from the start. First, these haulers started a referendum campaign to bring the Athens Contract to a vote by the citizens of Montebello. But they botched the referendum process, spawning the first two lawsuits in this long-running litigation: the consolidated cases of Villapania v. King, Los Angeles Superior Court Case BS 117299 ("Villapania"), and Torres v. City of Montebello, Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BS 117408 ("Torres I"), with Villapania attempting to remove the measure from the ballot, and Torres I attempting to keep the measure on the ballot. 2CT463, ¶ 9. Ultimately, the trial court in the consolidated Villapania matter ordered the referendum removed from Montebello's November 2008 ballot because of the independent haulers' failure to comply with the referendum procedures in the Elections Code. *Ibid.* Torres filed an appeal from this decision in the Second District Court of Appeal which he then dismissed in March of 2009.

On April 9, 2009, following the conclusion of the first two lawsuits, Athens made the \$500,000 payment required under the Athens Contract to the City, and thereafter made millions of dollars of capital investments in

equipment and trash cans to provide improved service to Montebello residents, and began performance of the contract. 2CT463, ¶ 8.

On April 23, 2009, Mike Torres, with financing provided by the independent trash haulers, filed his second action seeking a writ of mandate to void the Athens Contract. The case of *Torres v. Arakelian Enterprises*, *Inc.*, Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BS 120272 ("*Torres II*"), languished in the trial court for over three years, during which time the makeup of and political alliances among the Montebello City Council changed. Because of that political shift, the City abandoned its earlier defense of the Athens Contract and instead joined forces with Mike Torres in the effort to overturn the Athens Contract. 1CT157-158.

Finally, on July 26, 2012, Judge James Chalfant issued a ruling in the case, holding that: (1) the Athens Contract did not violate the limitation on exclusive franchises set forth in section 8.12.020 of the Montebello Municipal Code;³ (2) the Athens Contract did not violate the competitive bidding provisions found in section 3.21.060 of the Montebello Municipal Code; and (3) Kathy Salazar -- the same Kathy Salazar named in this action

The City's unverified Complaint alleges that "Section 8.12.020 of the City's *Municipal Code* only provides for non-exclusive commercial waste hauling franchises; it does not provide for such franchises to be exclusive." 1CT7, ¶ 18. Los Angeles Superior Court Judge James Chalfant has already decided this issue as a matter of law in *Torres II*, ruling against Mike Torres and the City. The City improperly seeks to re-litigate this precise issue.

-- did not have an impermissible financial interest in the Athens Contract by virtue of her involvement with a charitable counseling services organization, MELA, and thus no section 1090 violation occurred with respect to the Athens Contract. See 2CT499-523. Judge Chalfant did hold, however, that: (1) the City failed to properly execute the Athens Contract because it was signed by the Mayor Pro Tem, not the Mayor; and (2) the City violated Proposition 218 when it decided to collect trash hauling fees under the Athens Contract directly via the tax rolls. *Ibid.* An appeal and cross-appeal from the decision in *Torres II* is currently pending in the Second District Court of Appeal as Case No. B246515, and oral argument is set for November 13, 2014.

3. This Litigation.

On July 23, 2012 -- some four years to the day after the City Council approved the Athens Contract -- the City filed suit against Appellants alleging violations of section 1090, which prohibits city officers from being "financially interested in any contract made by them in their official capacity, or by any board of which they are members." Cal. Gov. Code § 1090. The City's unverified Complaint (the "Complaint") is littered with misleading and irrelevant allegations concerning the Appellants, who are now compelled -- in light of the Court of Appeals' improper adoption of the Complaint's allegations as fact -- to wash away some of the mud the City

has slung at them by setting the record straight.

For example, the City alleged that "[i]n 1998, Urteaga was charged with six felonies involving grand theft and forgery," and was "convicted . . . of grand theft" 1CT6, ¶ 15. The City next insinuated that Urteaga improperly failed to disclose this felony conviction when, in 2007, he ran for a seat on the City Council. 1CT6, ¶ 16. The City's allegations ignore the fact that Urteaga's long-ago and singular conviction was *legally expunged* from his record. 2CT446, ¶ 3. Moreover, even if Urteaga's conviction were still on his record, that conviction is entirely irrelevant to the City's purported claim against him under section 1090 related to his receipt of fully reported campaign contributions.

The City also attempted to drag Vasquez's civil service through the mud, casting aspersions on her execution of the Athens Contract. The City painted Vasquez's execution of the agreement as some furtive, rogue, and underhanded act. See 1CT8, ¶¶ 28-30. In reality, then Mayor Molinari had staunchly refused to execute the Athens Contract -- despite his mandatory, ministerial duty to do so -- for over a month, and Vasquez ultimately followed instructions from Montebello's City Attorney to sign the document. See 2CT397; 2CT400, ¶ 11. The only impropriety associated with the document's execution was Molinari's own unlawful refusal to sign the document. The City also attempted to make waves about Vasquez's

exercise of her Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination when. after having been sued in the instant case, she refused to answer questions relating to her execution of the Athens Contract in a deposition taken in Torres II. 1CT9, ¶ 34. The declaration of former Mayor William Molinari shows that Molinari sought to have the District Attorney intervene and prosecute the Council Members who voted in favor of the Athens Contract. 3CT553, ¶ 20. But, as with the present Complaint, there was no evidence to support Molinari's allegations and no prosecution of anyone resulted. See 3CT563-564. This "political payback" attempt to have a fellow member of the City Council prosecuted, along with the City's malicious allegations in the instant case -- which are clearly intended to give Appellants a bad name without any cause -- give explanation enough for her decision to fear retribution for simply voting against the interests of a few angry trash haulers who stand to lose their commercial contracts in 2016 under the new Athens Contract.

Like Urteaga and Vasquez, Salazar, too, is the subject of baseless and irrelevant allegations meant to sully her name. Despite the fact that the only basis for the City's section 1090 claim against Salazar was her receipt of campaign donations, the City could not refrain from digging up allegations -- which were rejected by the trial court in *Torres II* -- that Salazar should have recused herself from the voting on the Athens Contract

because Athens donated to a nonprofit counseling services center with which she is affiliated. 1CT9, ¶ 32. Because Athens's donations to the MELA Counseling Services Center ("MELA") are not germane to the City's trumped-up allegations concerning contributions to Salazar's campaign, and have been rejected as an insufficient basis for a section 1090 claim in *Torres II*, 1CT182-184, the allegations about MELA donations are simply more character assassination on the City's part.

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