S219052

SUPREME COURT
FILED

DEC 05 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

In The
SUPREME COURT
Of The State Of California

CITY OF MONTEBELLO
Plaintiff and Respondent

vs.

ROSEMARIE VASQUEZ, et al.
Defendants and Appellants,

ARAKELIAN ENTERPRISES INC.,
Intervener

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
Second Appellate District, Division One
[B245959]

ALVARADOSMITH, APC
Raul F. Salinas, SBN: 126922
rsalinas@AlvaradoSmith.com
Mary M. Monroe, SBN: 143734
mmonroe@AlvaradoSmith.com
633 West Fifth Street, Suite 1100
Los Angeles, California 90071
213-229-2400
213-229-2499 (fax)

LEIBOLD McCLENDON
John G. McClendon, SBN: 145077
john@ceqa.com

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

to Vasquez, Urteaga and Salazar on account of the favor they earlier bestowed on AEI by approving the AEI Contract is the fact that, following the City Council's 3-2 vote to approve the AEI Contract on July 23, 2008, AEI did not thereafter make any campaign contributions to the two Council members that had voted "no" on it. In fact, just the opposite occurred. In forms AEI filed with the California Fair Political Practices Commission, AEI admitted that it contributed at least \$37,300.00 to the campaign to prevent the Mayor from being reelected. Despite this, the Mayor was reelected as the top vote getter. (CT: 1:9.)

- In 2009, Athens contributed \$45,000 to Vasquez's campaign for reelection. Athens also contributed \$37,300 to efforts to defeat the mayor's reelection campaign. Athens contributed \$353,912.73 to a "Say No to Recall" campaign. Athens contributed no more than \$9,000 to any city council campaign in any other city. (CT: 3:585-597.)

B. Procedural History

- On July 23, 2012, the City filed a Complaint against Appellants. (CT: 1:4-9C.)
- On September 19, 2012, AEI filed a Complaint in Intervention and Motion to Intervene. (CT: 1:21-45.)

- On September 28, 2012, Appellants filed a Special Motion to Strike the Complaint pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16. (CT: 2:416-436.)
- On October 19, 2012, the City filed an Opposition to the Motion to Strike the Complaint. (CT: 3:712-724.)
- On October 25, 2012, Appellants filed a Reply to the Opposition to the Motion to Strike. (CT: 3:753-762.)
- On November 1, 2012, the Court denied the Special Motion to Strike and granted AEI's Motion to Intervene. (CT: 3:766-769.)
- In its Order on the Special Motion to Strike, the Court rejected the City's argument as to the applicability of the Anti-SLAPP Statute, finding the public enforcement section exemption does not apply to the City's Action and found the City's Action arises from protected activity. (CT: 3:766-769.) However, the Court ultimately denied the Special Motion to Strike, finding the City had met its burden of proof as to the probability of prevailing on the Action. *Id.*
- On December 20, 2012, Appellants filed the instant appeal. (CT: 3:774-776.)
- On December 27, 2012, Appellants filed a Motion for Leave to Use a Settled Statement Instead of Reporter's Transcript. (CT: 3:793-800.)

- On February 14, 2013, Appellants filed a Condensed Narrative. (CT: 1-1.)
- On March 29, 2013, the Court Granted Appellants' Motion for Leave to Use a Settled Statement Instead of Reporter's Transcript. (CT: 1-1.)
- On April 3, 2014, the Second District Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment of the trial court in favor of the City.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A SPECIAL MOTION TO STRIKE

An Order granting or denying an Anti-SLAPP Motion is reviewed under a de novo standard. *Soukup v. Law Offices of Herbert Hafif* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 260, 269, fn. 3). Accordingly, in reviewing the lower court's Order, the reviewing court applies the same two-step analysis utilized by the lower court on an Anti-SLAPP Motion. *Alpha and Omedga Development, LP v. Whillock Contracting, Inc.* (2011) 200 Cal.App.4th 656.

IV. THE TWO-PRONG ANALYSIS ON AN ANTI-SLAPP MOTION

The purpose of the Anti-SLAPP Statute is found in Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16(a) which states as follows:

"The Legislature finds and declares that there has been a disturbing increase in lawsuits brought primarily to chill the valid exercise of the constitutional rights of freedom of speech and petition for the redress of grievances. The Legislature finds and declares that it is in the public interest to encourage

continued participation in matters of public significance, and that this participation should not be chilled through the abuse of the judicial process. To this end, this section shall be construed broadly."

Moreover, "SLAPP plaintiffs do not intend to win their suits; rather they are filed solely for delay and distraction [citation], and to punish activists by imposing litigation costs on them for exercising their constitutional right to speak and petition the government for redress of grievances." *Dixon v. Superior Court* (1994) 30 Cal.App.4th 733, 741. SLAPP suits are filed to prevent citizens from exercising their political rights, and to harm those who have exercised those rights. *Wilcox v. Superior Court* (1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 809, 815.

Only "[a] cause of action against a person arising from any act of that person in furtherance of the person's right of petition or free speech under the United States Constitution or the California Constitution in connection with a public issue" is subject to the Anti-SLAPP statute." (Code Civ. Proc. § 425.16(b)(1).) Consequently, it requires the trial court to engage in a two-step process when determining whether a defendant's special motion to strike should be granted. *Id.*

First, the court decides whether the defendant has made a threshold prima facie showing that the defendant's acts, of which the plaintiff complains, were ones taken in furtherance of the defendant's constitutional rights of petition or free speech in connection with a public issue. *Wilcox v. Superior Court, supra*, 27 Cal.App.4th at 820. If the Court finds such a showing has been made, then the

plaintiff will be required to demonstrate that "there is a probability that the plaintiff will prevail on the claim." Code Civ. Proc. § 425.16(b)(1); *DuPont Merck Pharmaceutical Co. v. Superior Court* (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 562, 567-568.

The burden on the first issue belongs to the defendant, with the burden on the second issue falling on the plaintiff. *Wilcox, supra*, 27 Cal.App.4th at 819 *ff.*

A. The Appellate Court Erroneously Found that the Public Enforcement Exemption of Anti-SLAPP Statute Does Not Apply to this Action

Before applying the two-step process in ruling on the Appellants' Anti-SLAPP Motion to Strike, both the trial and appellate courts first addressed the parties' dispute as to the applicability of the public enforcement exemption of Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16(d) which states:

"This section shall not apply to any enforcement action brought in the name of the people of the State of California by the Attorney General, district attorney, or city attorney, acting as a public prosecutor."

Appellants argued this exemption does not apply because this action was not brought in the name of the People of the State of California. The City argued that the exemption does apply pursuant to the decision in *City of Long Beach v. California Citizens for Neighborhood Empowerment* (App. 2 Dist. 2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 302, although both parties noted there is a split of authority with the recent Fourth District decision *City of Colton v. Singletary* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 751.

The trial court noted that the City had failed to establish that this action was brought by a city attorney acting as a public prosecutor, found *Singletary* to be controlling, and rejected the City's argument. (CT:766-769.) Similarly, the Court of Appeal rejected the City's argument, finding that because the City's lawsuit was not brought in the name of the People of California, nor is the City suing on an issue of state-wide concern, the public enforcement exemption does not apply. In so doing, both courts completely discounted the City's argument that it had retained outside counsel so as avoid a legitimate conflict of interest based on the fact the City Attorney's law firm employed the daughter of AEI's executive vice president (CT: 766-769); a conflict of interest made salient by the trial court's granting of a motion to intervene by AEI in this action. (CT: 766-769.)

This action was brought in the name of the City of Montebello to enforce a law aimed at protecting the public. (CT: 4-9C). The City continues to maintain that *City of Long Beach* should control in this case given its sound reasoning in finding there was "no question" the City of Long Beach's civil action (brought in the name of the City of Long Beach) was exempt from the Anti-SLAPP statute and the defendant's exemption argument was "a shield from which to hide behind." *City of Long Beach, supra*, at 309; see also, *City of Los Angeles v. Animal Defense League* (2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 606, 618-619 [actions brought in the name of a city or county are "not necessarily outside the ambit" of the prosecutorial exemption, but only those actions brought "to enforce laws aimed generally at public protection qualify" for exemption].

This is precisely the type of case where this Court's reasoning in *City of Long Beach* should apply, as Appellants are attempting to use the Anti-SLAPP statute as a shield against their corrupt behavior to the detriment of the City's citizens. Finding that the public enforcement exemption of the Anti-SLAPP Statute does not apply would clearly circumvent the very purpose of the legislative scheme and reward Appellants for their wrongful acts.

In refusing to allow the public enforcement exception to be used in this Action, the trial court also noted that, because the Action seeks only a declaration that AEI's exclusive contract is void and disgorgement, it is not brought to enforce laws aimed generally at public protection. (CT: 766-769.) The Court of Appeal also concluded that since the waste hauling contract concerns only the City and its citizens, this is not an action concerning an issue of statewide concern.

If ever there was a case brought to enforce laws aimed at public protection, this is such a case. Appellants are accused of violating Section 1090 at the expense of the citizens of the City, citizens who are a subset of the People of California. Respondent seeks a declaration that the AEI contract is void and all monies received by Appellants from AEI be disgorged. How is this not seeking to enforce laws aimed at public protection? Government Code Section 1090, under which this action is brought, is directly aimed at protecting the public from precisely the type of wrongdoing the Appellants are accused of:

"Members of the Legislature, state, county, district, judicial district, and city officers or employees shall not be financially interested in any contract

made by them in their official capacity, or by anybody or board of which they are members. Nor shall state, county, district, judicial district, and city officers or employees be purchasers at any sale or vendors at any purchase made by them in their official capacity." Section 1090.

It is important to note that in enacting Section 1090, the California State Legislature codified the common-law prohibition against public officers and employees obtaining financial interests in contracts made in their official capacity. The public purpose behind Section 1090 is to "to remove all indirect influence of an interested officer, as well as to discourage deliberate dishonesty...." *Stangman v. Duke* (1956) 140 Cal.App.2d 185. The courts have interpreted Section 1090 to disqualify persons from discharging the services of their positions in public service when they have a personal interest, which might interfere with the unbiased discharge of their duties to the public or prevent their exercise of absolute loyalty to the best interests of the city. *See Raymond v. Bartlett* (1947) 77 Cal.App.2d 283. As a matter of public policy, the contract is deemed void regardless of its inherent benefits to the agency. *Brandenburg v. Miley Petroleum Exploration Co.* (1926) 16 F.2d 933; *Stragnman v. Duke* (1956) 140 Cal.App.2d 185 [holding it is not the character of the contract itself but the manner in which it is created that renders it violative of public policy].

Appellants took advantage of their positions of power in connection with their dealings with AEI and the resulting AEI contract. They did so for their own personal gain and political influence. The only reason for the City to file a conflict

of interest action under Section 1090 is to protect the public. The City, via its private counsel, is acting as a public prosecutor. If not for the conflict of interest resulting from the City Attorney's employment of a close relative of an AEI executive, the City Attorney would have brought this action on behalf of the City. Indeed, this is a classic case of form over substance. If one looks to the substance of the City's action, it is clear the City is acting as a public prosecutor and the public enforcement exception should apply.

B. The Court of Appeal Correctly Found Appellants Failed To Demonstrate Their Actions Arose From Protected Activity

With respect to the first prong of the two-step process employed in Anti-SLAPP motions, the Court of Appeal correctly found that Appellants' action relating to the AEI contract did not constitute protected activity within the meaning of Section 425.16, finding the outcome of this prong in the two step process is controlled by the unanimous Supreme Court decision in *Nevada Commission on Ethics v. Carrigan* (2011) 564 U.S. _____, 131 S.Ct. 2343, 180 L.Ed.2d 150.

Appellants argue that because *Carrigan* did not mention or construe Section 425.16 or California's constitutional free speech clause, the Court of Appeal's reliance on *Carrigan* to deny Appellants' right to bring their Anti-SLAPP motion is contrary to several of this Court's rulings. However, the cases cited by Appellants are distinguishable on the facts and none warrant a finding that a legislator's vote is **always** protected speech within the meaning of Section 425.16.

For example, in *Navellier v. Sletten* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 82, 94-95, the Court held that a defendant need not establish that his actions were constitutionally protected under the First Amendment to invoke the Anti-SLAPP statute. However, *Navellier* did not concern public officials accused of violating Section 1090 but rather dealt with claims of fraud and breach of contract related to a federal lawsuit. The defendant brought an Anti-SLAPP motion on the basis that the plaintiffs' state court claims arose out of the counterclaims the defendant filed in the federal court action. *Navellier* is distinguishable in that the conduct called into question - claims related to the filing of a counterclaim - concerned acts the defendant took "in furtherance of his right of petition or free speech in connection with a public issue" and "the constitutional right of petition encompasses . . . the basic act of filing litigation." *Id.* at 90. The City would not dispute that the act of filing litigation falls within the rubric of protected activity. That however is not what is at issue here. Rather, what is at issue here is corruption by public officials who violated the public's trust.

While the Court of Appeal did not specifically address this issue, it is important to note that the actions of Appellants which are challenged by the City's lawsuit encompass far more than just votes. A reading of the AOB would lead this Court to believe that the only alleged wrongs committed by Appellants were their acts of voting in favor of the AEI Contract. While the City agrees with the Court of Appeal's analysis that, under *Carrigan*, those votes are not protected free speech, it is important to note that the City's action goes far beyond mere votes.

The heart of the City's action takes aim at corrupt public officials whose votes and actions with respect to the AEI Contract were driven by self-dealing – self dealing which is specifically prohibited by Section 1090. The City concedes that had there been no self-dealing by the Appellants which led to their actions and votes in favor of the AEI Contract, the result might be different.

Perhaps of most interest to this Court is the decision by the First District Court of Appeal in *Schwarzburd et al v. Kensington Police Protection & Community Services District Board* (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1345, decided the very same day as this case. Appellants argue that unlike this case, *Schwarzburd*, which found the challenged votes of district board members arose out of protected activity, was correctly decided. However, no conflict exists between the First District in *Schwarzburd* and the decision of the Second District in this case as the decisions are easily reconciled.

The petitioners in *Schwarzburd* filed a petition for writ of mandate against a district board and three individual board members alleging the board failed to give proper advance notice of the business items that were to be discussed at a board meeting and that the board impermissibly extended the meeting past 10:00 p.m. after failing to secure sufficient votes to continue the meeting. The district board and individual board members filed a special motion to strike under Section 425.16.

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